1968

Frances O'Hair v. John S. Kounalis And George Kounalis : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

Plaintiff seeks to recover loans made by her to defendants on oral agreements and not fully repaid.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Defendant's motion for summary judgment of dismissal of plaintiff's complaint was granted on the sole ground that the statute of limitations had run.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the summary judgment and trial on the merits.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Because this is an appeal from a summary judgment, the facts alleged by plaintiff in her pleadings and deposition will be set forth, even though some of them are denied by defendants.

Plaintiff was orphaned at age 14, and resided until age 18 at her parents home in Salt Lake City, Utah, with her older sister and a Mrs. Leone Small, who had been hired as housekeeper for the girls by their guardian. Mrs. Small was mother-in-law of defendant John Kounalis, hereafter referred to as "John." (Pltf. depos. p. 4, L. 17 - p. 5, L. 23) When plaintiff became 18, in 1962, the home was sold and she received \$11,000.00 as her share of her mother's estate. (Pltf. depos. p. 8, L. 4 - 14) Mrs. Small then returned to live at the home of John Kounalis, his wife and his younger, single brother, defendant George Kounalis, hereafter referred to as "George." During her four year association with Mrs. Small, plaintiff had become very close to the Kounalis clan and considered them as her "family." She even moved into an apartment next door to the Kounalis home when her parents home was sold. In July 1962, George was arrested and charged in Federal Court in San Diego, California with a felony. His attorney fee was \$3,500.00, of which he paid \$1,000.00. He also paid \$1,032.25 in October 1962, to recover his car, which had been confiscated, and paid \$100.00 in March 1963 to settle the fine imposed upon him by the court. (George depos. p. 5, L. 24 - p. 6, L. 4; p. 18, L. 2 - 8)

The \$3,632.24 balance was paid by money advanced by plaintiff, on oral agreements, during the period from October, 1962, through March, 1963. The transactions are best stated in plaintiff's own words in her deposition at page 11, lines 16-25:

"A. John was the one that first approached me on it. George apparently didn't have the money, and he was in difficulty. He asked me if I would consider loaning it to them — John did. It was a verbal agreement that it would be repaid back. He said that it might be five or six years, but that it would be repaid. He explained to me what the problem was. I said, 'Fine.' I happened to have the money and they happened to be like family. I was at their home for Christmas and Thanksgiving, and they were very nice people. And if your friends are in trouble, you try to help them; so I just gave them the money."

Plaintiff reiterated several times in her deposition that the loan was made only on John's promise that it would be repaid. (Pltf. depos. p. 29, L. 13-15; p. 31, L. 17; p. 32, L. 22-25)

George acknowledges that he received the subject money from John. (George depos. p. 17, L. 1-25) John acknowledges that he received the money from plaintiff and paid it on to George. (John depos. p. 6, L. 20-21) The defendants admit only that \$2,532.25 was advanced them by plaintiff. (John depos. p. 7, L. 8-9) They deny any loan, and claim plaintiff made them a gift of the money. (John depos. p. 12, L. 7-21)

During 1963 and into January, 1964, John let plaintiff obtain groceries at his store totalling \$726.00. He

never billed her for them, but did keep all of the tapes. (John depos. p. 13, L. 9-15; p. 14, L. 20-25) Plaintiff claims these were payments on the loan. (Pltf. depos. p. 34, L. 18; p. 35, L. 9) John claims the \$726.00 in groceries was his gift to plaintiff. (John depos. p. 18, L. 5-19)

In 1964 George paid plaintiff \$100.00, and in 1967 paid her \$50.00. Plaintiff claims these were payments on the loan (pltf. depos. p. 29, L. 21—p. 30, L. 6), George claims these payments were gifts. (George depos. p. 12, L. 17-19; p. 14, L. 1-12)

On October 27, 1968, plaintiff sued defendants on the debts. (R. 1) The filing was five and one-half years from the last loan made in March 1963. It was four years and seven months from the last payment, free groceries, made by John. It was one year from the last payment, \$50.00, made by George.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THERE WAS A GENUINE ISSUE OF FACT AS TO WHETHER THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS HAD RUN, WHEN PLAINTIFF BROUGHT SUIT SIX YEARS AFTER THE LOANS WERE MADE, BUT LESS THAN FOUR YEARS AFTER THEY WERE IN DEFAULT

On plaintiff's motion to set aside the summary judgment, the trial court was asked as to the basis of its ruling, so that arguments could be to the point. The court replied that its ruling was based solely on the statute of limitations. (R. 5-6) This appeal concerns itself solely with that issue.

Plaintiff's loans were made in a period from October 1962 through March 1963. (Pltf. depos. p. 9, L. 13-25; p. 10, L. 2-3) The loans were on oral contract. The applicable statute of limitations is four years (78-12-25(1) PCA, 1953). Plaintiff did not expect repayment for about five years. (Pltf. depos. p. 11, L. 16-20; p. 18, L. 3-4; p. 28, L. 16-18; p. 29, L. 13-15)

The issue of law is whether the statute of limitations begins to run when a contract is made, or when a contract is in default. The issue of fact is to determine the point in time when the loans were in default. If this point was within four years of the commencement of the lawsuit, then the statute of limitations has not run.

Holloway v. Wetzel, 86 U. 387, 45 P.2d 565, concerns a written contract with the issue before the court whether the statute of limitations begins to run on the date of the contract or the date of default. The court stated, at 86 U. 391, "This action was commenced August 22, 1933. The note sued upon is alleged to have become due December 12, 1925. It would be barred if no payments, acknowledgments or new promises were made, six years thereafter, being December 12, 1931." The case lacks discussion, but clearly states that the date of default is the date on which the statute begins to run. It could be argued, that if the date of execution of the contract automatically commenced the period of limitations, that no creditor or mortgagee could safely make a written contract running more than six years. Certainly on a long term mortgage, if payments are missed at say the eighth year, the statute then begins to run,

and this is not because payments have tolled the statute, but because until there is an actual default, the statute hasn't begun to run at all.

Open account and implied contract cases must be distinguished. In these, the rule is that a short time for payment is implied and then the statute starts to run. *Morris v. Russell*, 120 U. 545, 236 P.2d 451. This rule is based on the assumption that the contract is in default about a month from its execution. In the case at bar, the point at which the loans were in default is not clear. This is precisely the point which should have precluded the summary judgment. It is analogous, in a sense, to cases of misuse of funds by a corporation, or of fraud, where the statute does not begin to run when the improper payment is made, but from the date of discovery, which is analogous to default. *Petty & Riddle, Inc. vs. Lunt*, 104 U. 130, 138 P.2d 648. In *Crofoot v. Thatcher and Josselyn*, 19 U. 212, 57 P. 171, a demand note for a subscription in corporate stock was given. Eight years later, the corporation having failed, demand was made by the corporate receiver on the note. On refusal of the demand, suit was filed. The court held that the debt was not in default, and the statute had not run, until after demand had been made, and denied a defense of the statute of limitations.

The general rule is stated in 34 Am Jur, Limitation of Actions, §113, P. 91:

“Accrual of cause of action. In General. It is of the essence of statutes of limitations that time begins to run under them as to causes of action only after the right to prosecute them to

a successful conclusion has fully accrued. . . . As the rule is otherwise expressed, a right of action accrues whenever such a breach of duty or contract has occurred or such a wrong has been sustained, as will give a right to bring and sustain a suit. Conversely, the right to commence an action arises the moment the cause of action accrues. In the absence of a statute to the contrary, the test in each case is whether the party asserting the claim is entitled to maintain an action to enforce it, for no limitation commences to run against any demand until the obligation or demand is due and payable, in the sense that it is defined sufficiently to be capable of enforcement."

If the statute of limitations begins to run when the cause of action accrues, when does the cause accrue? In addition to *Crofoot v. Thatcher and Joselyn*, supra, other Utah cases bearing on the point are *State Tax Comm. v. Spanish Fork*, 99 U. 177, 100 P.2d 575, "The question is then, when did the cause of action accrue? The general rule is that it accrues at the time it becomes remedial in the courts, that is when the claim is in such condition that the courts can proceed and give judgment if the claim is established . . . ordinarily a cause of action for a debt begins to run when the debt is due and payable because at that time an action can be maintained to enforce it." *Wilson vs. Weber Co.*, 100 U. 141, 111 P.2d 147 (Suit against government for refund of taxes, with statute requiring claim to be made before lawsuit can be filed and holding that cause of action accrues not when there is a liability, but only when liability is in such a position that suit can be filed); *Last Clear Chance Ranch Co. v. Erickson*, 82 U. 475, 25 P.2d 952 (Contract

for conveyance of stock "forthwith." Question of fact as to time meant by "forthwith," and statute starts to run from such time.)

1 Am Jur 2d, Actions §89, p. 618 states, "Thus, in the case of a contract calling for the payment of money, there can be no action at law commenced for the recovery of the money before it becomes payable in accordance with the terms of the contract."

An action for payment of money on an oral contract, if commenced prematurely, will be dismissed, because the cause of action has not accrued. *Bowers v. Bowers*, 99 S.W. 2d 334 (Texas); *Werber v. Atkinson*, 84 A. 2d 111 (D.C., 1951).

In sum, plaintiff had a claim against defendants as of the date of the loans. She did not have a cause of action until the claim was overdue. Determination of the time when the claim was due is a question of fact. The question itself is rather limited, because defendants deny the existence of a loan at all, so can't state a time when payment was due. The only testimony is plaintiff's, to the effect that she did not expect full repayment for up to five years, and that she had received payment during the interim in part, as she had requested it, by free groceries from John during 1963 and 1964, and cash payments by George during 1964 and 1967. It would be a great hardship on plaintiff, and a dangerous construction of the statute of limitations, to rule that a party not expecting full payment on a claim for a number of years, and receiving partial payments as demanded

during that time, is subject to the statute of limitations from the date of the contract.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO DEFENDANT, GEORGE KOUNALIS, BECAUSE THERE WAS AN ISSUE OF FACT AS TO WHETHER MONIES HE PAID TO PLAINTIFF IN 1964 AND 1967 TOLLED THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

George admits that he paid to plaintiff, by check, \$100.00 in 1964 (the time of year is not clear in the depositions of the parties), and \$50.00 in 1967. (George depos. p. 12, L. 18-19) He admits that he made the payments because, "I felt a little obligated" (George depos. p. 13, L. 8; p. 14, L. 7-8; p. 14, L. 25—p. 15, L. 3), that he would have repaid his brother John for the money if John had pressed him, but that he knew the true source of the money was plaintiff. (George depos. p. 16, L. 9-15)

Plaintiff claims these payments to be payments on her loan to George. (Pltf. depos. p. 18, L. 15-20; p. 27, L. 14-19)

78-12-25(1), UCA, 1953, provides a four year limitation on an oral contract, but 78-12-44, UCA, 1953, provides that payment of "any part of principal or interest . . ." restarts the limitation period. *Holloway v. Wetzer*, 86 U. 387, 45 P. 2d 565; *Crompton v. Jenson*, 78 U. 55, 1 P. 2d 242.

In light of the foregoing facts and law, it is difficult to understand how the trial court, other than by inadvertence, could have included George in a summary judgment based on the statute of limitations, when George admits payments within four years and admits that they were made from a sense of obligation on the loan.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN THERE WERE UNRESOLVED ISSUES OF FACT WHICH WOULD DETERMINE THE RESULT OF THE CASE.

Points I and II of this brief state unresolved issues. Rule 56(e) URCP provides:

“MOTION AND PROCEEDINGS THEREON. The motion shall be served at least 10 days from the time fixed for the hearing. The adverse party prior to the day of hearing may serve opposing affidavits. The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that *there is no genuine issue as to any material fact* and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.” (emphasis added)

Utah law is well settled that a summary judgment shall be granted only if there is no genuine issue as to any material facts, and in weighing facts, the party

against whom the summary judgment is sought, has the benefit of having the evidence considered in the light most favorable to him. *Morris v. Farnsworth Motel*, 123 U. 289, 259 P. 2d 297; *Whitman v. W. T. Grant Co.*, 16 U. 2d 81, 395 P. 2d 918; *Young v. Felornia*, 121 U. 646, 244 P. 2d 862.

As to John, there is one issue, to wit: whether there is an issue of fact as to when the loans were in default and the statute of limitations began to run, in consideration of plaintiff's testimony that she did not consider payment due for a number of years.

As to George, there is the same issue, and a second issue, to wit: whether payments he made within four year of filing of the complaint were gifts or payment on the loan.

These issues could not be determined as a matter of law because they involve factual disputes.

Respectfully submitted,

SAMUEL KING
409 Boston Building
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111
*Attorney for Plaintiff
and Appellant*