1968

Frances O'Hair v. John S. Kounalis And George Kounalis : Respondents' Brief

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by the plaintiff to recover money allegedly loaned to both defendants more than five and one-half years (5½) before the action was commenced. [R. 1]

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The trial judge granted the defendants' motion for summary judgment based upon the deposition of the parties [R. 7]; and also entered an order denying plaintiff's motion to set aside the said judgment [R. 10]

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The defendants ask that the judgment of the trial judge be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff's parents died when she was fourteen (14) years of age and her aunt was appointed her legal guardian. The aunt hired Mrs. Leone Small, who was the defendant John S. Kounalis' mother-in-law to stay with her. The aunt moved out, but Mrs. Small stayed on with the plaintiff and her sister for about four (4) years and until they graduated from high school in 1962. [Dep. Pl. pp. 4-5] During this time, Mrs. Small and John Kounalis' family were the closest thing to a real family the plaintiff had. [Dep. JK p. 4]

The plaintiff and her sister each shared equally in the family estate consisting of some cash assets; a home which sold for \$21,000.00 and some inheritance from their grandfather's estate. [Dep. Pl. p. 7, 38] The plaintiff's share amounted to over \$11,000.00 which she received just after she turned eighteen (18) in January, 1962. [Dep. Pl. p. 8] By August of 1963, she had spent the entire inheritance. [Dep. Pl. p. 35-36] During this time, the defendant, John Kounalis, advised her not to spend the money but rather to invest it. John stated she seemed to have an obsession to get rid of her money and refused to consider investments. [Dep. JK p. 16]

After the plaintiff turned eighteen (18), she began to date George Kounalis who at that time was unmarried. [Dep. GK p. 15 L. 25; p. 16 L. 1] George testified that these dates averaged about once a week over ten months from Oct. 1962 through July 1963. He stated the plaintiff would call him seeking out the date. [Dep. GK pp.

10-11] John Kounalis stated the plaintiff was very much **in love with George**. [Dep. JK p. 22]; and the plaintiff herself admitted she liked George and wanted to help him out any way she could. [Dep. Pl. pp. 13-14]

Sometime in 1962, George Kounalis became involved in criminal litigation in California. The attorney's fees and other costs of defending this action became important. George Kounalis sold some of his stock to raise about \$2,500.00 to pay said expenses [Dep. GK pp. 8-9] At the time he was employed for Univac at Sperry Rand in Salt Lake City, Utah. [Dep. GK p. 6] John testified that George's nine (9) brothers and sisters could have raised the remaining money to defend this action had it been necessary to do so. [Dep. JK pp. 9-10]

However at about this same time, the plaintiff became aware of the circumstances and went directly to John Kounalis offering to give him money to help George. She conditioned the payment on the promise that John would not tell George where the money was coming from. [Dep. JK p. 17 L. 6-10; p. 5 L. 18-23] John stated the money was given as a gift because the plaintiff thought quite a bit of George. [Dep. JK p. 12 L. 15-21] At least two (2) checks were then written out to John and deposited by John in his private bank account. John would then write checks of a similar amount made out to George. [Dep. JK pp. 6-7] John stated that he never discussed with George anything about the plaintiff being the one who made the advances; and he did not know how George found out about it. [Dep. JK pp. 22-23]

George testified that it was not until about March of 1963 that he first learned that the plaintiff had advanced the money. [Dep. GK p. 10] This was after the money had been given to John and also after John had given the money to George. George further testified that when he talked to the plaintiff about this matter she said it was a gift and she didn't want to be repaid. [Dep. GK p. 16] George did remember receiving a check from John in November, 1962 for about \$500.00 and one in January, 1963 for about \$1,500.00. [Dep. GK p. 7] He sold some of the stocks after the first loan was received in November, 1962; and of the \$2,500.00 received from the sale, he sent \$1,000.00 to his attorney as a retainer and paid John back \$920.00. [Dep. GK p. 9]

The plaintiff's testimony agrees with these statements made by both John and George. She testified that all monies were given to John and she never had any contact with George. [Dep. Pl. pp. 12, 20-21] She stated she could have given the money to George but he never asked for it. [Dep. Pl. P. 13] She further stated that she had no personal knowledge that George ever received the money she gave to John; nor did she have any personal knowledge that George knew she was the one advancing the money. [Dep. Pl. pp. 21, 24] She stated unequivocally that George Kounalis never did tell her the money would be repaid. [Dep. Pl. p. 29] The plaintiff admits that there were no written agreements pertaining to these transactions but rather all of the understandings were verbal. [Dep. Pl. p. 17]

Insofar as her dealings with John Kounalis were concerned, the plaintiff stated she made advances to John in October, 1962, and January, 1963. [Dep. Pl. pp. 9-10] She states in one part of her deposition that John Kounalis said the money would be repaid in five or six (5 or 6) years. [Dep. Pl. p. 11] However, when asked later in the deposition to state again what she remembered about this initial conversation, she changed her testimony and remarked that John said it might be two, three or four (2, 3 or 4) years. [Dep. Pl. p. 18]

The plaintiff stated that by the summer of 1963, she had gone through her entire inheritance and was in need of help. [Dep. Pl. pp. 34-36] She went to John Kounalis who owned a small neighborhood grocery store called the Liberty Park Market and asked for some food. [Dep. Pl. p. 34] John told her she could have anything she wanted. [Dep. JK p. 18] This was a common practice with the defendant, John Kounalis, insofar as other members of his family were concerned; and many of them had received help in the past. The plaintiff continued to receive assistance until about January, 1964, when she moved from the neighborhood. [Dep. Pl. pp. 36, 40] From January, 1964, until the complaint was filed in August, 1968, the plaintiff never contacted the defendant John Kounalis in any way either concerning the loan or otherwise. [Dep. Pl. p. 36-37; Dep. JK p. 15 L. 1-3] The plaintiff stated that she considered the receipt of groceries to be partial payment on the monies advanced to John Kounalis; however John denies that there was any

conversation to this effect. [Dep. JK p. 18]

The plaintiff further testified that George Kounalis gave her \$100.00 about this same period of time she was receiving groceries from John. On page 9 of her brief, the plaintiff states the time of year in 1964 when this \$100.00 was paid is not clear. However in her deposition the plaintiff said it was while she was still living in the apartment on 5th East Street in Salt Lake City, Utah [Dep. Pl. p. 41]; and she stated to her own counsel that she left this apartment sometime in either January or February, 1964. [Dep. Pl. p. 40] Consequently the \$100.00 payment was received prior to or during January or February of 1964 and not after that period of time.

Based upon the foregoing statement of facts and the other information gained from reading the depositions of the parties, the trial judge, Stewart M. Hanson, granted the defendants' motion for summary judgment. This motion was based upon the defenses raised in the answer of the defendants—specifically the statute of limitations as found in §78-12-25 UCA-1953 and the statute of frauds found in §25-5-4 UCA-1953. [R. 2]

POINT I

THE DEFENDANT, GEORGE KOUNALIS, CANNOT BE HELD LIABLE FOR THE DEBT OF JOHN KOUNALIS BECAUSE THERE WAS NO WRITTEN AGREEMENT TO BECOME LIABLE AS REQUIRED BY §25-5-4 (2) UCA-1953.

Section 25-5-4 (2) UCA-1953 states as follows:

“25-5-4. Certain Agreements Void Unless Written and Subscribed. — In the following cases every agreement shall be void unless such agreement, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party to be charged therewith: . . . (2) Every promise to answer for the debt, default, or miscarriage of another . . .”

The plaintiff stated that all transactions with the defendants were verbal. [Dep. Pl. p. 17] She further stated that George Kounalis had never told her the money she gave to John would be repaid. [Dep. Pl. p. 29] All of her dealings were with John Kounalis; and nowhere did she ever state that John had told her he had been asked by George to get the money from the plaintiff. [Dep. Pl. pp. 12, 13, 20, 21] Under these circumstances it is clear that the only person who would be liable—if indeed anyone is liable—would be the defendant, John Kounalis.

For these reasons the court was correct in dismissing George Kounalis from the lawsuit.

POINT II

THE DEFENDANT, JOHN KOUNALIS, HAD NO LEGAL LIABILITY TO REPAY THE PLAINTIFF FOR MONIES ADVANCED BECAUSE ANY CLAIM WHICH THE PLAINTIFF MIGHT HAVE HAD WAS BARRED BY §78-12-25 UCA-1953.

Section 78-12-1 UCA-1953 provides that civil actions can be commenced only within the periods prescribed in Chapter 12 and after the cause of action shall have accrued. The pertinent section of Chapter 12 which applies to the instant case is §78-12-25 which reads as follows:

“78-12-25. *Within Four (4) Years.* (1) An action upon a contract, obligation or liability not founded upon an instrument in writing; . . . provided that action in all of the foregoing cases may be commenced at any time within four (4) years after the last charge is made or the last payment is received.”

The plaintiff testified that the loans were made to John Kounalis in October of 1962 and January of 1963. [Dep. Pl. pp. 9-10] The instant action was commenced in August of 1968 or more than five and one-half (5½) years after the last amount was given to John Kounalis. It follows the complaint should be dismissed pursuant to §78-12-25 unless the plaintiff can come within the provisions of §78-12-44 UCA-1953.

This latter section extends the time to bring suit to four (4) years after: (1) any part of the principal or interest shall have been paid, or (2) an acknowledgment of an existing liability shall have been made, or (3) a promise to pay the existing liability shall have been made. Subsections (2) and (3) require a writing signed by the party to be charged thereby; and consequently these two (2) subsections would not apply to the instant case where all transactions were verbal. [Dep. Pl. p. 17]

Whether subsection (1) of 78-12-44 applies depends on the time and nature of the transactions. Plaintiff alleges the defendant, John Kounalis, made a payment on account by letting the plaintiff charge groceries at his store; and also because the defendant, George Kounalis, paid \$100.00 and \$50.00 to the plaintiff. Since the gro-

ceries were taken during 1963 and January and February, 1964, and since the \$100.00 was paid during this same period of time [Dep. Pl. pp. 40-41]; it is obvious each transaction was more than four (4) years prior to the date the instant action was filed; and therefore would not be of any help to the plaintiff in extending the statute. And both the plaintiff and John stated affirmatively that they had absolutely no contact with each other since February, 1964. [Dep. Pl. p. 37 L. 8-10; Dep. JK p. 15 L. 1-3]

Nor can the \$50.00 payment by George Kounalis in 1967 be construed as a part payment under §78-12-44. Since George had no legal liability to repay the plaintiff as shown under POINT I, *supra*, it follows any payments he made were merely gratuitous and would be made as a stranger to the contract between the plaintiff and John Kounalis and therefore could not affect the statute of limitations defense raised by John Kounalis.

The plaintiff does not contend that George acted as the agent of John in paying the \$50.00. Rather the plaintiff seeks to hold George Kounalis liable personally in this lawsuit because he received the benefit of some of the money and she attempts to construe the \$50.00 payment to extend the statute of limitations as to George. This point might have some merit if George were liable in some way; but it is obvious in the instant case he is not liable except perhaps morally if he feels so inclined. His defense under the statute of frauds [§25-5-4 (2) UCA-1953] negates his legal liability and there is no way it can be

created by payment of \$50.00 some five (5) years after the monies were given to his brother without his knowledge. Furthermore, it is clear that all the plaintiff's dealings were with John and she had no meeting of the mind with George. Nowhere in the deposition of the parties is there any suggestion that John and George were ever in a joint venture and that John had acted as George's agent in getting the money from the plaintiff. In fact, the plaintiff herself admitted that she had no personal knowledge that George even knew that John had gone to the plaintiff for the money. [Dep. Pl. pp. 21, 24] ; and George claims that the first he learned of the plaintiff's participation was in March, 1963, after the loans had already been made. [Dep. GK p. 10]

The final attempt which the plaintiff makes to overcome the statute of limitations defense is by saying that the debt was not to be repaid for several years and therefore the "cause of action" contemplated by §78-12-1 did not exist for several years. From this, she reasons that the statute of limitations did not begin to run for several years. The problem with this position is that the plaintiff changed her story so many times the trial judge did not have any credible, convincing, evidence to determine when the repayment was to be made if at all, and the plaintiff herself admits as much in her brief. When the plaintiff first stated her recollection of the initial conversation with John Kounalis, she stated affirmatively that John had said the money would be repaid in five or six years. [Dep. Pl. p. 11] However, when she was asked later in

the deposition to state again what she remembered about this initial conversation, she changed her testimony and remarked that John said it might be two, three or four years. [Dep. Pl. p. 18] Under these circumstances, the trial judge was certainly entitled to find that there was no agreement as to time of repayment. In such a situation the law holds that the loan was due when made and plaintiff could have made a demand for repayment at that time. [*Lindsey v. Hamlet*, 235 Ala. 335, 170 So 234 (1938)] Since the plaintiff could demand payment at any time after the loans were made, the statute of limitations would begin to run from the same time according to plaintiff's own authorities and since the complaint was not filed until more than five and one-half (5½) years later, it is clear the trial judge acted properly in dismissing the action.

It would not work any real hardship on the defendants to apply the above stated rule of law and find that the loans were due when made; or upon the demand of the plaintiff. The trial judge had before him the depositions of the parties which showed that George Kounalis owned stock which could have been sold to pay this indebtedness and that he in fact did sell some of the stock and repaid John approximately \$1,000.00 in November of 1962. [Dep. GK p. 9] The trial judge could also have found that the defendant, John Kounalis, operated a grocery store and had the ability to repay the money. He also had the statement of the defendants to the effect that the other brothers and sisters in the family could have raised the money to pay George's court costs had it not been for the in-

tervention of the plaintiff. [Dep. JK pp. 9-10] Under these circumstances, it is clear there would be no genuine issue of fact to be tried and the summary judgment was properly granted.

SUMMARY

For the reasons set forth hereinabove, the defendants submit that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and that the ruling of the trial judge should be affirmed.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED

JAMES A. McINTOSH
Attorney for Respondents
15 East 400 South
Salt Lake City, Utah